Inflammatory markers in cancer: Potential resources

Richa Chauhan¹, Vinita Trivedi²

¹Corresponding Author, Department of Radiation Oncology, Mahavir Cancer Sansthan and Research Centre, Khagaul Road, Phulwarisharif, Patna 801505, Bihar, India, ²Department of Radiation Oncology, Mahavir Cancer Sansthan and Research Centre, Khagaul Road, Phulwarisharif, Patna 801505, Bihar, India

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Cancer and Inflammation
 - 3.1. Historical background
 - 3.2. Inflammation and tumorigenesis
 - 3.3. Inflammation and tumor progression
- 4. Biomarkers of Inflammation
 - 4.1. Cytokines
 - 4.2. Leukocytes
 - 4.3. Acute phase proteins
 - 4.4. Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species
 - 4.5. Prostaglandins, cyclooxygenases, lipoxygenases and related factors
 - 4.6. Transcription factors and growth factors
- 5. Clinical Evidence for application of inflammatory markers as cancer biomarkers
 - 5.1. Lung Cancer
 - 5.1.1. Etiology
 - 5.1.2. Prognosis
 - 5.2. Breast Cancer
 - 5.2.1. Etiology
 - 5.2.2. Prognosis
 - 5.3. Prostate Cancer
 - 5.3.1. Etiology
 - 5.3.2. Prognosis
 - 5.4. Colorectal Cancer
 - 5.4.1. Etiology
 - 5.4.2. Prognosis
- 6. Summary and perspective
- 7. Acknowledgments
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

Cancer is a leading cause of death worldwide and a major burden on developing and less developed countries of the world with limited

resources for prevention and effective treatment of cancer. Although cancer is multifactorial in origin, various epidemiological and experimental studies suggest that chronic inflammation has an important role in all stages of cancer, from initiation to progression and even survival of the patient. Inflammatory products like cytokines, chemokines, leucocytes. prostaglandins. cyclooxygenase. reactive oxygen and nitrogen species. metalloproteinase induce genetic and epigenetic changes in normal cells damaging its DNA, inhibiting its repair, altering transcription factors, preventing apoptosis, and stimulating angiogenesis, and thus resulting in carcinogenesis. Thus, these inflammatory mediators have a potential role to become cancer biomarkers for all stages of cancer as many of them can be measured in a cost-effective manner. However, large scale prospective trials are required to validate these potential cancer biomarkers. Nonetheless, a transition from potential to practical utilization of these markers will be an effective tool for the amelioration of cancer burden and mortality in a resource limited setting.

2. INTRODUCTION

Cancer is a leading cause of death worldwide and to add to the existing burden of 18.1 million new cases and 9.6 million cancer deaths in 2018 as per GLOBOCON, the number of cancer cases and deaths is expected to grow rapidly (1). Both ageing and growth of population along with adoption of lifestyle behavior that increases cancer risk can be attributed to the expected increase in the burden of cancer (2). Parallel to the increase in the number of cases, recent years have also witnessed a remarkable progress in the basic, translational and clinical research in cancers. Cancer is now proven to be a multifactorial cluster of diseases involving uncontrolled cell growth and proliferation altering the normal cell behavior. Α comprehensive understanding of the altered molecular mechanisms and cellular processes underlying the biological process of carcinogenesis has provide a connecting link between cancer biomarkers and their clinical utility in the comprehensive management of cancer from diagnosis, treatment to prognosis (3). Widespread application of proven cancer control measures, screening, early detection, appropriate therapy with proper follow-up, and prediction measures through cancer biomarkers could definitely be very effective tools for the amelioration of cancer

burden and mortality (4).

A biomarker, or biological marker, is in general a substance used as an indicator of a biological state. It is a characteristic that can be measured and evaluated as an indicator of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes, or responses to a therapeutic intervention (5). The use of biomarkers in medicine has been much more extensively studied in oncology than in any other diseases. With the availability of complete human genome sequence, and advancement in key technologies such as high throughput DNA sequencing, microarrays, and mass spectrometry, the plethora of potentially informative cancer biomarkers has expanded dramatically beyond the classical tumor markers to include the sequence and expression levels of DNA, RNA, and protein as well as metabolites (6). Though these genomic and proteomic technologies are quite promising and can significantly enhance the efficacy of cancer management by facilitating the individualization of therapy and also by providing tools predicting/monitoring therapeutic response; their use is limited to few big cancer centers across the world (7.8). The major hindrance to their widespread use includes the infrastructure required and the associated high cost. Further, issues regarding quality control methods and procedures also need to be developed for using these markers with reliability and reproducibility across the world and especially in low resource developing and under developed countries with a major burden of cancer patients (9).

Epidemiological and experimental data suggest a close connection between inflammation and carcinogenesis (10,11). Inflammation impacts almost all stages of carcinogenesis (12). Molecular and cellular pathways, which connect inflammation and cancer, have also emerged as attractive targets for prevention and therapy (13). The process of inflammation releases a number of markers in the blood which are inexpensive to test and routinely measured in day-to-day oncological practice, and hence potentially provide readily available information to help oncologists to estimate patient prognosis. Nonetheless, one of the major challenges for oncology research is to establish the definite relationship between cancer biomarkers and cancer

pathology in addition to the development of targeted therapies targeting the exact altered cellular process (14).

In this review we intend to discuss general mechanisms and concepts of inflammation causing and promoting cancer and the potential role of inflammatory mediators as cost-effective prognostic biomarkers of cancer with some clinical evidence.

3. CANCER AND INFLAMMATION

3.1. Historical background

The recognition of inflammation as a biological process dates way back to the 1st century A.D. It was defined by A.C Celsius, the Roman physician as the tissue response to injury that results in rubor (redness, due to hyperemia), tumor (swelling, caused by increased permeability of the microvasculature and leakage of proteins into the interstitial space), calor (heat, associated with increased blood flow and the metabolic activity of the cellular mediators), and dolor (pain, in part due to changes in the perivasculature and associated nerve endings) (15). Based on detection of inflammatory infiltrates in solid malignancies, Rudolf Virchow was probably the first person to report a possible association between inflammation and cancer in the mid of 19th century (16). Few decades later, Dvovak et al showed that carcinogenesis and inflammatory conditions share common pathways like proliferation, enhanced angiogenesis, increased cell survival and migration. Moreover, they are controlled by the same growth factors, pro inflammatory cytokines and pro angiogenic factors. Further finding of inflammatory cells in cancer tissue lead to the concept of cancer as a "wound that does not heal" (17). Recently, extensive research has been done to unravel the cellular and molecular pathways involved in this complex biologic response of the body to injury, irritation or infection. This has shown that acute and chronic inflammation have different effects in context to carcinogenesis, while acute inflammation and its associated products may protect the body against cancer; chronic inflammation is a facilitating process for many cancers. It is now known that these cellular and molecular products of chronic inflammation lead to several diseases including cancer (18-20).

Besides, other established etiological factors of cancer like smoking, obesity, infections, pollution, and radiation are also known to activate proinflammatory pathways (21).

The development of cancer, referred to as carcinogenesis is a step-wise process which can be functionally grouped into three phases: initiation, progression. promotion. and Initiation characterized by genomic changes in the cell leading to activation of cellular proto-oncogenes or inactivation of tumor suppressor genes causing irreversible cellular changes. Survival and clonal expansion of these "initiated" cells further promote tumor development. Further, progression encompasses growth in tumor size, local invasion and distant metastasis (22).

3.2. Inflammation and tumorigenesis

Long-standing inflammation secondary to chronic infection or irritation predisposes to cancer (23). Large epidemiological studies have shown its prominent role in cancer of the lung, colorectum, breast, hepatobiliary, cervical, gastric, ovarian etc. (24-26). In general, inflammation induces the release of a variety of cytokines, chemokines, free radicals, prostaglandins, growth factors and enzymes as cyclooxygenase and matrix metalloproteinase. These products of inflammation can cause oxidative damage, DNA mutations and other genetic and epigenetic changes in tissue microenvironment making the cells more prone to malignant transformation (27). However, the exact biological process by which the above-mentioned cause of chronic inflammation initiates carcinogenesis differs and remains somewhat undeciphered. Viral infections are estimated to play a causal role in at least 11% of all new cancer cases diagnosed worldwide (28). One of the most prevalent Oncovirus HPV is known to induce carcinogenesis by getting its E6 and E7 genes integrated into human genes and leading to increased expression of cellular protooncogenes like MYC (29). However, the cancer incidence is much lower than the virus prevalence in human population; which bears a testimony to the fact that only infection with the virus is not sufficient for cancer development. Persistence of viral infection along with chronic inflammation and other co-factors

like immunosuppression and acquired mutations is more relevant in context to carcinogenesis. Persistent viral infection causes chronic inflammatory response which generates reactive oxygen species (ROS) that promotes the acquisition of mutations. The accumulation of these mutations eventually leads to cancer as observed in HBV and HCV infection. HBV and HCV infection triggers inflammatory response in the liver cells causing hepatitis, fibrosis, cirrhosis and finally hepatocellular carcinoma (30).

Likewise, chronic response to lung irritants like cigarette smoke induce chronic inflammation followed by epithelial mesenchymal transition and malignant transformation of human bronchial epithelium causing lung cancer (31). Another important cause of cancer, Obesity is also characterized by a chronic state of low-grade inflammation (32). An obese person has an excess of adipose tissue containing adipocytes and immune cells in the stroma. The interaction between immune cells and adipocytes leads to inflammation and subsequent adipose tissue dysfunction. Persistence of obesity causes chronic inflammation leading to adipocyte hypertrophy, immune cell infiltration, angiogenesis and fibrosis, which promotes tumorigenesis (33). Besides, adipose tissue is also infiltrated by macrophages which secretes mediators like TNF-α, IL-18,12,23 and NF-kB and contributes to the pro-inflammatory tumor environment. These mediators trigger autocrine growth factor cascade by inhibiting proliferation control signals including apoptosis and can initiate carcinogenesis (34). A review of the literature by Franks and Slansky had revealed that 23 different chronic inflammatory autoimmune-related diseases are associated with increased risk for focal or organ-specific malignancies, and specifically, cancer of the organs targeted by the inflammatory condition (35). Celiac disease can be considered as a paradigm for chronic inflammation predisposing patients to cancer development. It targets the gut and is associated with an elevated risk of gastrointestinal malignancies. It is associated with chronic enteropathy and release of factors like IFN-y and CD8+ T-cell activation, which leads to tissue damage and gut cytotoxicity, creating a pro malignant chronic inflammatory state (36). Similarly, chronic mucosal trauma due to betel nut

chewing, ill-fitting dentures, gall stones etc. results in inflammation, thereby releasing chemical mediators such as cytokine, prostaglandins, and tumor necrosis factor. This could induce genetic and epigenetic changes damaging DNA, inhibiting its repair, altering transcription factors, preventing apoptosis, and stimulating angiogenesis, thus resulting in carcinogenesis (37).

3.3. Inflammation and tumor progression

We now know that inflammatory cells and mediators play a critical role in fostering tumorigenesis. Following the transformation of a cell to malignant state; these mediators further support tumor growth by supplying signaling molecules to the tumor environment which include growth factors like EGF that sustain proliferation, pro-angiogenic factors like VEGF-A/C and extracellular matrix-modifying factors like MMP-9 that sustain angiogenesis, facilitates tissue invasion and supports metastatic dissemination (38). In order to maintain the inflammatory environment, the tumor cells itself promote inflammation by recruiting a variety of immune cells to its stroma. It is now proven that virtually every neoplastic lesion contains immune cells present at densities ranging from subtle to gross infiltration. The immune cells include macrophages, mast cells, neutrophils, eosinophils, dendritic cells, as well as T and B lymphocytes (39).

These cells produce a number of mediators which increases cell proliferation. One of the most relevant factors in this context is the TNF- α which acts via the NF κ B signaling pathway (40). An increased expression of TNF- α has been found in a number of cancers including breast, bladder, colorectal cancer and also in leukemia and lymphoma (41,42). IL-6 is another typical cytokine with tumor growth effect. It acts by activating the JAK tyrosine kinase and transcription factor STAT-3 pathway, as seen in many cancers like multiple myeloma, colorectal and breast cancer (43 – 46).

A strong relationship has also been documented between inflammation and local invasion in cancer and studies suggest that the most important inflammatory mediators involved in local tumor invasion are the extracellular matrix

remodeling proteinases, such as the matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (47). They belong to a family of Zinc dependent proteolytic enzymes that degrade various components of extracellular matrix. MMP-9 facilitates tumor invasion by degrading type IV collagen, a major structural protein component of extracellular matrix and basement membrane (48, 49).

Tumour-associated macrophages (TAMs) constitute a significant component of inflammatory infiltrates in neoplastic tissues (50). They produce a number of cytokines and proteases including potent angiogenic and lymphangiogenic growth factors to accelerate neoplastic progression (51). Activated macrophages producing TGF- β , TNF- α , IL-1 α , arachidonate metabolites and extracellular proteases have been found in melanoma patients which induces the melanocytes to produce IL-8 and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-A, causing vascular angiogenesis (52). It was also reported that macrophage infiltration is closely associated with the depth of invasion of primary melanoma (53). In addition to melanoma, macrophages in cervical cancer patients are also known to express VEGF-C and VEGF-D as well as the VEGF receptor-3, all of which are implicated in formation of lymphatic vessels and lymphatic metastases (54).

Angiogenesis, the development of new capillaries from preexisting blood vessels, is required for tumor growth larger than a 1- to 2-mm diameter and for the development of metastasis. It is not only a hallmark of cancer but also one of the molecular events that links chronic inflammation closely to cancer development and progression Angiogenesis in general, is exacerbated by an increased production of chemokines, cytokines, growth factors, proteolytic enzymes, proteoglycans, lipid metabolites and prostaglandins. These factors enhance angiogenesis through Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) production (56). Another wellknown regulator of angiogenesis Angiopoietin 2 can also upregulate inflammatory responses, indicating a common signaling pathway for inflammation and angiogenesis (57). In addition, MMP-9, and members of fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family activated by 5- lipoxygenase are also important in sustaining tumor angiogenesis (58).

Inflammation also plays a regulatory role in the metastasis of cancer cells. Tumor associated macrophages and their mediators influence the multistep process of metastasis, from interaction with the extracellular matrix to homing at a distant site (51). Monocytes are also important component of the metastatic cascade as they release a number of proangiogenic and metastatic factors like VEGF, FGF-2, platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), intracellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1), vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM-I), E-selectin, P-selectin and MMP-9 (59).

Thus, it is now evident that inflammatory cells and their products have a powerful impact on the process of tumor development, growth, invasion, angiogenesis and metastasis. Once initiated, both inflammation and non-inflammation associated cancer recruit immune cells to maintain the supply of tumor sustaining and promoting inflammatory products. Some of these mediators can be easily measured in blood and tissue samples. These mediators can be used as biomarkers of inflammation and given the close association between inflammation and cancer, can possibly play an important role as biomarkers of different phases of cancer.

4. BIOMARKERS OF INFLAMMATION

4.1. Cytokines

5

Cytokines are substances which are secreted by various immune cells of the body, predominantly by macrophages and T-lymphocytes. They can be either proteins, polypeptides or glycoproteins, and serve as signaling molecules, mediating and regulating the immunity, inflammation as well as hematopoiesis (60). They include a number of mediators, which are structurally similar but differ in their function. Depending on their function, they can be divided into six groups; chemokines, interleukins (ILs), interferons (INFs), colony-stimulating factors (CSFs), transforming growth factors (TGFs) and tumor necrosis factors (TNFs). Among them, ILs and TNF-α are predominantly pro-inflammatory and critical factors required for transformation, proliferation, invasion, angiogenesis and metastasis. Chemokines are a

subtype of cytokines which are capable of inducing directed chemotaxis of various cells towards the site of inflammation. Four groups of chemokines are found based on the first two cytosine residues on the polypeptide chain. CC chemokines consist of two adjacent cytosine residues at the amino terminus. CXC chemokines consist of two cytosine residues at the N-terminus, which are separated by one amino acid. C chemokines consist of one cytosine in the Nterminus and the other cytosine downstream. CX3C chemokines consist of three amino acids between the two cytosine residues (61). These cytokines exert their carcinogenic effect by activating various signal transduction pathways like NF-κβ, JAK/STAT, MAPK, AP-1 (62). Many of these cytokines have been measured in serum, plasma, tissue and cell culture supernatant in several studies and correlated with cancer risk, stage and prognosis (63-66). However, till date their short half-life, strict collection and storage requirements, and above all lack of specificity have restricted their routine use as cancer biomarkers (67-68).

4.2. Leukocytes

Leukocytes are an integral part of both innate and the adaptive immune system, and include granulocytes (neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils) monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells and lymphocytes (B&T cells), which can exert both immune stimulating or immune-suppressive functions. When activated they also release a number of cytokines and tumor growth promoting factors (69). The leucocyte profile of the body changes with stages of inflammation and serve as potential biomarkers of inflammation. A complete blood count (CBC) is the most common routinely performed simple blood tests in clinical practice and is available everywhere. Several studies have successfully correlated a shift in the number or ratio of these routinely measured blood parameters with risk, stage and prognosis of cancer. The measurements include neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR), lymphocyte to monocyte ratio (LMR) and platelet to lymphocyte ratio (PLR) (70-72). Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), white-blood cells found within the tumor which presumably reflect an immune response against the tumor have also been extensively studied recently and usually incorporated

in histopathological reports (73). With their widespread use, ease of measurement, low cost, and ample evidence they have the best potential to be developed as cancer biomarkers for different stages (from predicting risk, response to therapy and survival) in clinical practice, as shown in various studies (70, 74-76). However, large prospective trials incorporating their use is still required.

4.3. Acute phase proteins

Acute phase proteins are a group of serum proteins which are synthesized by the liver in response to inflammation. These proteins can interact with a number of receptors on macrophages in the tumor environment and potentially modulate them to increase tumor cell survival, growth and metastasis. Its production is regulated by endothelial cells, activated monocytes and macrophages. Creactive protein and Serum Amyloid A are the two important Acute phase proteins involved in the process of tumorigenesis and progression (77). Though they can be measured easily in blood, their level can be altered by transient conditions like acute infections and trauma which limits their practical application as a cancer biomarker. Multiple serial measurements are therefore recommended to track changes in levels over time (78-79). Glasgow Prognostic Score (GPS) and modified Glasgow Prognostic Score (m GPS), using a combination of albumin and CRP level in the patient have also been used as a prognostic marker in cancer patients (80-81).

4.4. Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species

Reactive oxygen (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) are free radicals that are produced as a result of inflammation. Their formation is stimulated by cytokines through activation of protein kinase signaling cascade (82). ROS and RNS also recruit additional inflammatory cells leading to generation of more ROS and RNS, and thus forming a vicious cycle. An excess of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species lead to oxidative and nitrosative stress (83). This causes damage of DNA, proteins, lipids and carbohydrates which can have mutagenic effects on the cells. Oxidation and nitrosative deamination of nucleobases present in the DNA by

ROS and RNS respectively causes altered replication, transcription and translation which exert oncogenic effects (84-85). These free radicals also lead to lipid peroxidation whose products again react with DNA and are mutagenic (86). Two important such products which can be measured and are documented to be associated with an increased cancer risk are trans-4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (HNE) and malondialdehyde (MDA) (87-88). In addition, ROS also triggers the release of factors like vascular endothelial growth factor promoting angiogenesis (89). So, though directly related to etiology and progression of cancer these inflammatory markers are extremely difficult to measure as they have a very short half-life in nanoseconds. Consequently, their products like MDA and etheno-DNA adduct are quantified in plasma, urine and tissues using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), immunoprecipitation and fluorescence detection methods (90).

4.5. Prostaglandins, cyclooxygenases, lipoxygenases and related factors

Prostaglandins are a group of lipid compounds that are enzymatically derived from essential fatty acids as a part of inflammatory response. Cyclooxygenase (COX) enzyme catalyzes the formation of four distinct group of prostaglandins from arachidonic acid namely Prostaglandin E (PGE), Prostaglandin F (PGF), Thromboxane (PGA) and Prostacyclin (PGI). The enzyme cyclooxygenase has two isoforms COX-1, the constitutive form and COX-2, the inducible form. In addition, the fatty acids are also modified by the lipoxygenase enzymes (ALOX). The lipoxygenase pathway produces leukotrienes from macrophages (91). Among the two pathways, it is the cyclooxygenase pathway and the prostaglandins which have been studied for its association with carcinogenesis and cancer progression. The maior role includes immunosuppression, inhibition of apoptosis and promotion of angiogenesis. Immunosuppression is mainly mediated by PGE which suppresses mediators such as T and B lymphocytes, lymphokines, natural killer cells, cytotoxic T cells, and macrophages. Thromboxane, PGE and Prostacyclin produced from endothelial cells further induce Interleukin 6 and haptoglobin which are important

mediators for angiogenesis and invasion (92). Apoptosis or programmed cell death is a controlled mechanism for destroying cells with genomic alterations that have oncogenic potential and is a major protective mechanism against cancer development. This process is mediated through the tumor suppressor gene p53 and inhibited by bcl-2. The induction of this anti-apoptotic protein, bcl-2 by PGs in the tumor microenvironment is a major factor in the avoidance of apoptosis by cancer cells and uncontrolled tumor growth (93). The direct measurement of the level of prostaglandins in body tissues have been tried but it involves labor intensive sample preparation and is not very specific (94). So, it is the quantification of expression and level of COX 2 by immunohistochemistry in tissue which is clinically used to measure these mediators or biomarkers (95).

4.6. Transcription factors and growth factors

The carcinogenic effects of the various inflammatory mediators are mediated through various growth and transcription factors. These factors are proteins that bind to cellular and nuclear receptors to elicit a downstream response (96). The two most important transcription factors central to the initiation and progression of cancer are Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κβ) and Signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT3). Activation of either NF-kB or STAT3 is found in over 50% of all cancers and is a pre-requisite for the expression of a variety of target genes important for tumorigenesis (97-98). NF-κB activation in inflammatory cells in response to infectious pathogens, pro-inflammatory mediators as well as necrotic cell products results in the production of factors that support growth, survival, and vascularization of pre-malignant and malignant cells. NF-ĸB family comprises homoheterodimeric transcription factors consisting of RelA, c-Rel, RelB, NF-κB1 (p50 and its precursor p105), and NF- kB2 (p52 and its precursor p100) with RelA-p50 as being the most prominent NF-κB transcription factor (99). Activation of NF-κB upregulates cell cycle mediators (cyclinD1, c-Myc), antiapoptotic (c-FLIP, survivin, bcl-2, bcl-xl, IAP-1, IAP-2), adhesion molecules (ICAM-1, ELAM-1, VCAM-

17), proteolytic enzymes (MMP, uPA), and proinflammatory factors (PGHS-2, cytokines) that promote an invasive phenotype and the presence of its constitutively active form in cancer patients has been found to be associated with poor clinical outcome (100-102). Further, the constitutive activation of STAT-3, does not only promote cancerrelated inflammation but also suppresses anti-tumor immune responses. Studies have shown that both STAT-3 and NF-kB interact at multiple levels and together boost tumor-associated inflammation. STAT -3 acts as a co-transcription factor for NF-κβ, Re1A by increasing its nuclear life. On the other hand, numerous RelA-encoded target gene products like IL-6, IL-11, IL-17, IL-21, IL-23, PGHS-2 function as STAT-3 activators (62).

5. CLINICAL EVIDENCE FOR APPLICATION OF INFLAMMATORY MARKERS AS CANCER BIOMARKERS

As per GLOBOCON 2018, for both sexes combined, lung cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer (11.6% of the total cases) and the leading cause of cancer death (18.4% of the total cancer deaths), closely followed by female breast cancer (11.6%), colorectal cancer (10.2%), and prostate cancer (7.1%) for incidence and colorectal cancer (9.2%), stomach cancer (8.2%), and liver cancer (8.2%) for mortality (1).

A number of studies have reported an association between presence of inflammatory markers and risk of cancer development. Further, studies have also demonstrated association between level of inflammatory markers in cancer patients and their survival. The literature search in the electronic databases retrieved hundreds of related articles, and we selected those that we thought to be most relevant to our purpose (Table 2).

5.1. Lung Cancer

5.1.1. Etiology

In the Health Aging and Body Composition study by Dora II'yasova *et al*, the relationships between circulating levels of the inflammatory markers like interleukin-6 (IL-6), C reactive protein (CRP), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and site-

specific cancer incidence was studied. This prospective study recruited three thousand seventyfive healthy participants including black and white men and women in the age group of 70 to 79 years, whose baseline levels of inflammatory markers were measured in frozen stored serum (IL-6 and CRP) or plasma (TNF-a). A total of 435 cancer events were detected during the follow up period with breast, colorectal, lung and prostate cancer comprising 63% of the total diagnosed cases. The results established a positive association between increased level of inflammatory biomarkers and cancer incidence. All three markers were associated with lung cancer. (24) A nested case-control study within the Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovarian Cancer Screening Trial was done to estimate lung cancer risk associated with levels of circulating inflammatory markers (103). It showed 11 markers that represent several components of the inflammation process including acute-phase proteins, cytokines, chemokines, and growth factor to be associated with lung cancer risk (104).

5.1.2. Prognosis

Recent work by Ryan et al on a small panel of circulating cytokines identified elevated levels of IL-6, a pro-inflammatory cytokine, as an indicator of poor survival in lung cancer patients (105). With the introduction of screening in lung cancer, many cases are being diagnosed in stage I which is traditionally treated by surgery alone. However, about 20% to 30% of these patients recur after surgery suggesting a need for biomarkers to identify aggressive stage I patients who need adjuvant treatment and spare the relatively less aggressive patients from over treatment (106). With this background, a study was done by Meaney et al to explore blood-based inflammatory biomarkers to identify patients at high-risk of mortality for which additional treatment modalities can be offered at time of diagnosis. Their results showed that patients with elevated serum levels of IL-6 and IL-17A have a 5-year survival rate of only 46%, considerably lower than the 93% 5-year survival rate of patients with low levels of IL-6 and IL-17A. The intermediate group, patients with high levels of one of the two markers. also had a significant association with survival and a 5-year survival rate of 73% (107).

5.2. Breast Cancer

5.2.1. Etiology

The Women's Health Initiative study (WHI), is a prospective study that was designed to examine the common causes of morbidity and mortality among postmenopausal women, including cancer, cardiovascular disease, and osteoporosis. Initially, 161,808 postmenopausal women in the age group 50 to 79 at baseline, were recruited from 40 US centers between September 1, 1993 and December 31, 1998 (108). After the original WHI study ended in 2005, the WHI Extension Study (2005-2010) was carried out to collect 5 more years of follow-up data and the second WHI Extension Study (2010-2015) collected an additional 5 years. Among them, biospecimen subsample was available for 22,124 participants and a prospective analysis was conducted among 17,841 healthy postmenopausal women with baseline CRP and Body Mass Index BMI measurements to examine associations of pre-diagnosis highsensitivity C-reactive Protein (hsCRP) with breast cancer incidence and post-diagnosis survival and to assess whether associations are modified by BMI. The results showed that a 1 SD increase in log hsCRP was associated with 17% increased breast cancer risk among normal weight women (BMI<25), whereas no association was observed among overweight/obese (BMI≥25) women. Similarly, an increased mortality risk was apparent among leaner women with higher hsCRP levels as compared to overweight/obese women. The probable hypothesis given for this difference seen was that other risk factors such as estradiol and insulin that were found to be elevated in overweight/obese women might have masked the increased risk associated with the presence of generalized inflammation (109). Besides, a large meta-analysis of 15 published articles by Guo et al reported that a single log-unit increase in circulating CRP was associated with a 16% increase in breast cancer risk (110)(Table 1).

5.2.2. Prognosis

Cellular-mediated inflammatory products like lymphocytes, neutrophils, and monocytes are increasingly being recognized as having an important role in carcinogenesis. In this context, studies particularly in breast cancer (BC) have suggested that a high neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR)

along with other similar haematological indices like Platelet to lymphocyte ratio (PLR), Lymphocyte to Monocyte (LMR) is associated with shorter survival. Dirican et al. studied the role of pre-operative NLR as a prognostic factor in 1527 patients with BC with a follow-up of nearly 6 years. They concluded that there was a significant difference regarding disease free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS) in patients with NLR <4 and NLR ≥4 (respectively, P < 0.00, P < 0.001) (111). A meta-analysis by Chen et al to evaluate the association between NLR and overall survival survival (OS). disease-free (DFS). recurrence-free survival (RFS) or cancer specific survival (CSS) showed high NLR to be a significant negative prognostic factor in breast cancer patients (112).

Besides haematological indices, A study by Denkert *et al* suggested that the presence of tumorassociated or infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) in breast cancer is a new independent predictor of response to anthracycline or taxane based neoadjuvant chemotherapy and provides useful information to identify a subgroup of patients with a high benefit from this type of chemotherapy (113).

5.3. Prostate cancer

5.3.1. Etiology

9

On the basis of a strong clinical background linking chronic prostatitis to prostate cancer, epidemiological studies studying the correlation between inflammatory markers and prostate cancer have largely shown that inflammation plays a role in initiation and progression of prostate cancer (114). In particular, there is strong evidence that the cyclooxygenase enzymes (COX 1 and 2), the enzymatic targets of most non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), are involved in the initiation and promotion of prostate cancer (115). A meta-analysis by Mahmud et al to study the association between use of aspirin and other nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and the risk of prostate cancer concluded that the protective effect of aspirin and other NSAID use against prostate cancer is only suggestive and not conclusive (116). To further extend knowledge on the role of inflammation in prostate cancer risk, Toriola et al investigated the associations between markers of

Table 1. Risk factors causing chronic inflammation and cancer

Risk Factors	Common Examples
Virus	HPV, HBV, HCV, EBV, KSHV, HTLV-1
Bacteria	Helicobacter Pylori, Bacteroids sp.
Protozoa	Schistomiasis
Autoimmune	Celiac disease, Ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease, Myasthenia gravis, Rheumatic Arthritis, Systemic Lupus Erythematosus
Dietary	Tobacco, Alcohol, High Fat diet
Metabolic	Obesity
Trauma	Areca nut chewing, Sharp teeth, dentures, Gall stones
•	loma Virus; HBV: Hepatitis B Virus; HCV: Hepatitis C Virus; EBV: Epstein Barr Virus; KSHV: Kaposi's sarcoma virus: HTLV-1: Human T- lymphotropic virus

systemic inflammation (CRP, fibrinogen and leukocyte count) and risk of prostate cancer among 2,571 middle-aged men in Finland. They concluded positive associations between leukocyte count and risk of prostate cancer but increased CRP and fibrinogen level was not associated with the risk of developing prostate cancer (117).

5.3.2. Prognosis

Prostate cancer (PC) is mainly treated with surgery in early stage, radiation in both early and locally advanced stage and with hormones in metastatic stage. Shafique et al investigated the role of inflammation-based prognostic scores, the modified Glasgow Prognostic Score (mGPS) and neutrophil lymphocyte ratio (NLR), to predict progression after Radical Prostatectomy and concluded that raised mGPS had a significant association with excess risk of death (118). Many clinical data on the relationship between inflammation and response to radiotherapy for PC are present in the literature. Markers like NLR, PLR, CRP have been studied and their increased levels have been found to be associated with poor survival as they create a microenvironment favouring cancer proliferation and metastases despite radiotherapy (119). Recent studies also confirm that systemic inflammation represents a truly novel and unexplored prognostic variables in castration resistant metastatic prostate cancer (CRPC), which is independent of other clinical parameters such as stage. These markers do not substitute but rather integrates with established prognostic factors. Studies have shown both NLR (cut-off value 2-3) and CRP (cut-off value

8) as an independent and significant predictor of overall survival and progression free survival in CRPC cases receiving chemotherapy with Docetaxel and NLR for patients being treated with abiraterone (120-122). A critical review on Prognostic value of inflammation in prostate cancer progression and response to therapeutic by Sciarra *et al* concluded that various inflammatory parameters that can be easily obtained from the blood/serum can be integrated with established prognostic factors to formulate validated prognostic algorithms (123).

5.4. Colorectal cancer

5.4.1. Etiology

10

The Health Aging and Body Composition study showed that IL-6 and CRP were associated with the risk of developing colorectal cancer (24). A study by Ghuman et al is perhaps the largest population-based study assessing common inflammatory markers and colorectal cancer. This study included a large cohort of men and women aged 20 years and older in greater Stockholm area with serum C-reactive protein (CRP), albumin, haptoglobin and leukocytes measured between 1986 and 1999. These serum inflammatory markers were investigated in relation to colorectal cancer incidence and subsequent survival. During a mean follow-up time of 18 years, 4764 out of 325 599 participants (1.46%) developed invasive colorectal cancer. An increased risk of colorectal cancer was found to be associated with higher levels of haptoglobin and leukocytes, Further, a borderline inverse association was reported with albumin and no association was

Table 2. List of some routinely measured systemic inflammatory markers which have been used as cancer biomarkers

Inflammatory Marker	Explanation	Reference
Lymphocyte/Monocyte Ratio (LMR)	 Lymphocytopenia has been associated with increased tumor burden and poor prognosis. The probable cause could be destruction of lymphocytes by tumor cells which decreases body's anti-tumor response Monocytosis has also been found to be associated with poor prognosis as they Tumor associated macrophages, which is an important mediator of cancer progression and metastases. The division of lymphocyte count by monocyte count is defined as LMR. A low LMR as a simple biomarker of host immune system, has been suggested to be related to poor prognosis in various cancers. The median cut-off value for LMR has been reported to be 3.0 	70
Neutrophil/ Lymphocyte Ratio (NLR)	 The neutrophils act as tumour-promoting leukocytes, capable of suppressing anti tumour immune response; are effectors of angiogenesis; promote leakage of tumour cells and endothelial cells into the circulation, therefore contributing to participate in metastatic cascade. Therefore, an elevated neutrophil count can stimulate tumour angiogenesis and contribute to disease progression, thus leading to a negative correlation between neutrophil density and patient survival. On the other hand, lymphocytes are a part of host's antitumor response the presence of lymphocytes in the tumour is associated with better responses to chemotherapy and better prognosis. Thus, the NLR can reflect the balance between the activation of the inflammatory pathway and the antitumour immune function. The division of neutrophil count by lymphocyte count is defined as NLR. An increase in NLR has been reported to correlate with poor prognosis in cancer patients. A cut-off value between 2-4 has been reported in various studies. 	74
Platelet/ Lymphocyte Ratio (PLR)	 Platelets are another important tumor promoting leucocytes. They secrete vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), insulin-like growth factor (IGF), transforming growth factor β (TGFβ), and many cytokines which promote epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and promote metastasis. Lymphocytes, as we know are part of host's defense against tumor. The division of platelet count by lymphocyte count is defined as PLR. The cutoff values estimated for PLR is 160. A high PLR value corelates with a poor response to therapy and bad prognosis. 	75
Tumor Infiltrating Lymphocytes (TIL)	 Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes are associated with the immune status of host and many studies have shown its presence to be a good prognostic factor. Various methods have been described by different researchers for evaluation and quantification of TILs. They can be measured in the tumor, invasive margin, surrounding stroma on simple H &E stain. An international TIL working group2014 has laid down recommendations for evaluating and reporting TILs. A high degree of lymphocyte infiltration is predictive of a better response to chemotherapy and good long-term prognosis. 	76
Glasgow Prognostic Score (GPS)	 A combination of Albumin and C-reactive protein (CRP) measurements into a 3level predictive score. Patients who had both a serum elevation of CRP (>1.0 mg/dL) and hypoalbuminemia (<3.5 g/dL) were allocated a GPS of 2. Patients with only one of the abnormal values were allocated a GPS of 1, and Patients who had neither were allocated a GPS of 0. Survival decreases with increasing score 	80
m Glasgow Prognostic Score (mGPS)	 Similar to GPS, except only hypoalbuminemia is score 0. Patients who had both a serum elevation of CRP (>1.0 mg/dL) and hypoalbuminemia (<3.5 g/dL) were allocated a GPS of 2. Patients who had only serum elevation of CRP but not hypoalbuminemia were allocated an mGPS of 1, and Patients who had neither or only hypoalbuminemia were allocated a mGPS of 0. Survival decreases with increasing score. 	81

11

found with CRP. For colorectal cancer-specific death, the only positive association observed was with haptoglobin. The study concluded that altered levels of pre-diagnostic inflammatory markers may be associated with an increased risk of colorectal cancer and worse cancer-specific survival after diagnosis (124).

5.4.2. Prognosis

A recent review of the literature by Nasr et al on the role of inflammatory markers and micro RNAs as prognostic markers for response to systemic chemotherapy and overall survival was done. It revealed a critical role of inflammatory markers especially acute phase proteins, cytokines and blood cell ratios as prognostic markers (125). Multiple studies have evaluated the role of acutephase reactants, including albumin, CRP, ferritin, fibringen, haptoglobin, and D-dimer, on prognosis in both early and advanced CRCs and reported their increased level as a bad prognostic factor (126). Pretreatment serum concentrations of several proinflammatory cytokines like IL-1\beta and IL-6, and TNF-α may help identify early cancer progression among patients and were found to be independent prognostic factors of overall survival (OS) and Progression free survival (PFS) in CRC patients (127). Various blood cell ratios, such as neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR), lymphocyte to monocyte ratio (LMR), and platelet to lymphocyte ratio (PLR), have also been evaluated in predicting the clinical outcomes of colorectal cancer. Kim et al. showed that high NLR (≥3.0) is an independent risk factor predicting poor long-term outcomes in patients with stage III and IV, but not in stage I and II (128). A systematic review done by Tan et al. included 15 studies and a total of 3991 CRC patients to analyze the relationship between PLR and OS and DFS. This meta-analysis showed that an elevated PLR was significantly associated with lower OS and DFS, poor tumor differentiation, the propensity toward depth of infiltration, and recurrence (129).

Besides, these four most common cancers a number of inflammatory markers have been reported both as risk and prognostic marker in a number of other cancers like ovary, endometrial, renal cell carcinoma, liver, pancreatic, esophageal, stomach, head and neck, lymphomas, melanomas (25, 37, 130-135). A description of all the types and subsites of cancer related to inflammatory markers is beyond the scope of this review.

6. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVE

Thus, we see that the biological rationale and the clinical evidence makes inflammatory markers a potential candidate to be a cancer biomarker, which can predict the risk of developing cancer, its prognosis, response to therapy, and also survival. However, when seen in the context of a biomarker, these mediators not only have some advantages but also major limitations. The major advantage includes the availability of a wide spectrum of inflammatory mediators to be measured whose level either alone or in combination can be used as cancer biomarkers. The tests for some of these markers like the haematological indices (NLR, PLR, LMR) is simple, low-cost, validated and routinely done everywhere. Other group of markers like acute phase proteins (CRP, albumin, fibrinogen, haptoglobin etc.) can also be easily measured in blood. Then there are markers like cytokines, prostaglandins, cyclooxygenase and growth factors whose isolation and detection methodologies are complicated, needs expertise and are relatively expensive, but much less when compared to the molecular and genomic techniques. Large scale prospective trials are needed to validate these potential prognostic and predictive markers, as well as to determine their cut-off levels, sensitivity, and specificity in cancer patients with different primary tumor sites. One of the major limitations with these markers is that they are not specific for any tumor type/site and can be found to be raised in a number of other chronic diseases. Because inflammation is a hallmark of carcinogenesis, it is not possible to get a site-specific inflammatory marker.

As we understand, a panel of inflammatory markers should be used in adjunct with established risk and prognostic markers to subclassify the stages of cancer which are more aggressive and would probably benefit from additional therapy. Further,

large studies are required to develop nomograms combining clinical stage, histology, grade, other clinico-pathological parameters with a panel of inflammatory markers to define groups of patients with similar prognosis and response to therapy. These nomograms can then be correlated and validated with available genomic and molecular sub classification of various cancer types before incorporating them into clinical practice. A transition from potential to practical utilization of cost-effective inflammatory mediators as cancer biomarkers will be very helpful for the oncologists of developing and under developed countries of the world in treating cancer patients with limited resources.

7. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Richa Chauhan has contributed in designing the concept, collecting material and writing of the paper. Vinita Trivedi has contributed in material collection and editing of the paper.

8. REFERENCES

 Bray, F.; Ferlay, J.; Soerjomataram, I.; Siegel, R.L.; Torre, L.A.; Jemal, A. Global Cancer Statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J. Clin. 68, 394-42 (2018)

DOI: 10.3322/caac.21492

- Bray F. Transitions in human development and the global cancer burden. In: Stewart BW, Wild CP, eds. World Cancer Report 2014. Lyon: IARC Press; 42-55 (2014)
- 3. Sethi, S.; Ali, S.; Philip, P.A.; Sarkar, F.H. Clinical Advances in Molecular Biomarkers for Cancer Diagnosis and Therapy. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.14*, 14771-14784 (2013)

DOI: 10.3390/ijms140714771

4. Hala Fawzy Mohamed Kamel, and Hiba

- Saeed Bagader Al-Amodi. Role of Biomarkers in Medicine. Intech Open August 17. *Cancer Biomarkers* (2016) DOI: 10.5772/62421
- Ilyin SE , Belkowski SM, Plata-Salaman CR. Biomarker discovery and validation: technologies and integrative approaches. *Trends in Biotechnology* 22:411–6 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2004.06.005
- Henry N. Lynn, Hayes Daniel F., Cancer biomarkers, *Molecular Oncology*, 6 (2012)
 DOI: 10.1016/i.molonc.2012.01.010
- 7. Ku, C.S.; Cooper, D.N.; Roukos, D.H. Clinical relevance of cancer genome sequencing. *World J.Gastroenterol.* 19, 2011–2018 (2013)
 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i13.2011
- Ogino, S.; King, E.E.; Beck, A.H.; Sherman, M.E.; Milner, D.A.; Giovannucci, E. Interdisciplinary education to integrate pathology and epidemiology: Towards molecular and population-level health science. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 176, 659–667 (2012) DOI: 10.1093/aje/kws226
- Liu, E.T. Molecular oncodiagnostics: Where we are and where we need to go. J. Clin. Oncol. 21, 2052–2055 (2003) DOI: 10.2331/suisan.69.The_70th_Anniversar y_of_JSFS_S28b
- Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? *Lancet*. 357: 539-45 (2002)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04046-0
- Coussens LM, Werb Z. Inflammation and cancer. *Nature*. 420: 860-7 (2002)
 DOI: 10.1038/nature01322

- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancer-related inflammation. *Nature*. 454:436–444 (2008)
 DOI: 10.1038/nature07205
- Diamandis EP. Towards identification of true cancer biomarkers. *BMC Medicine*.12:156 (2014)DOI: 10.1186/s12916-014-0156-8
- Sidransky D. Emerging molecular markers of cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer. 2:210–9 (2002)
 DOI: 10.1038/nrc755
- Punchard NA, Whelan CJ, Adcock I. The Journal of Inflammation. J Inflamm (Lond)1(1):1. Published Sep 27 (2004) DOI: 10.1186/1476-9255-1-1
- Korniluk, A., Koper, O., Kemona, H., & Dymicka-Piekarska, V. From inflammation to cancer. Irish journal of medical science, 186(1), 57-62 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1007/s11845-016-1464-0
- Dvorak HF Tumors: wounds that do not heal. Similarities between tumor stroma generation and wound healing. N Engl J Med 315:1650–1659 (1986)
 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM198612253152606
- Aggarwal BB, Sung B. The relationship between inflammation and cancer is analogous to that between fuel and fire. Oncology (Williston Park) 25:414–418 (2011)
- de Visser KE, Eichten A, Coussens LM. Paradoxical roles of the immune system during cancer development. Nat Rev Cancer 6:24–37 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/nrc1782
- 20. Shalapour S, Karin M. Immunity, inflammation, and cancer: an eternal fight

- between good and evil. *J Clin Invest* 125(9): 3347–3355 (2015) DOI: 10.1172/JCI80007
- Aggarwal BB, Gehlot P. Inflammation and cancer: how friendly is the relationship for cancer patients? *Curr Opin Pharmacol*. 351–369 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.coph.2009.06.020
- 22. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell*.100: 57-70 (2000) DOI: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9
- 23. Multhoff, G., Molls, M., & Radons, J. Chronic inflammation in cancer development. *Frontiers in immunology*, 2, 98. (2012)
 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00098
- 24. Il'yasova D, Colbert LH, Harris TB, Newman AB, Bauer DC, Satterfield S, et al. Circulating levels of inflammatory markers and cancer risk in the health aging and body composition cohort. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 14:2413–8 (2005) DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-05-0316
- 25. Trabert, B., Pinto, L., Hartge, P., Kemp, T., Black, A., Sherman, M. E., Brinton, L. A., Pfeiffer, R. M., Shiels, M. S., Chaturvedi, A. K., Hildesheim, A., Wentzensen, N. Pre-diagnostic serum levels of inflammation markers and risk of ovarian cancer in the prostate, lung, colorectal and ovarian cancer (PLCO) screening trial. *Gynecologic oncology*, 135(2), 297-304 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2014.08.025
- Agnoli, C., Grioni, S., Pala, V., Allione, A., Matullo, G., Gaetano, C. D., Tagliabue, G., Sieri, S., Krogh, V. Biomarkers of inflammation and breast cancer risk: a case-control study nested in the EPIC-

Varese cohort. Scientific reports, 7(1), 12708 (2017)

DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-12703-x

- Fernandes JV, Cobucci RN, Jatoba CA, Fernandes TA, de Azevedo JW, de Araujo JM. The role of the mediators of inflammation in cancer development. Pathol Oncol Res. 21:527–34 (2015) DOI: 10.1007/s12253-015-9913-z
- De Martel C, Ferlay J, Franceschi S, Vignat J, Bray F, Forman D, Plummer M. Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2008: a review and synthetic analysis. *Lancet Oncol* 13(6):607–615 (2012)

DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70137-7

- Munger K, Howley PM. Human papillomavirus immortalization and transformation functions. *Virus Res.* 89: 213-28 (2002)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0168-1702(02)00190-9
- Hussain SP, Hofseth LJ, Harris CC. Radical causes of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 3: 276-85 (2003)
 DOI: 10.1038/nrc1046
- 31. Pryor WA. Cigarette smoke radicals and the role of free radicals in chemical carcinogenicity. *Environ Health Perspect*. 105 Suppl 4(Suppl 4):875-82 (1997)
- 32. Wellen KE, Hotamisligil GS. Obesityinduced inflammatory changes in adipose tissue. *J Clin Invest* 112:1785–8 (2003)

DOI: 10.1172/JCI200320514

33. Nishimura S, Manabe I, Nagasaki M, Hosoya Y, Yamashita H, Fujita H, et al. Adipogenesis in obesity requires close interplay between differentiating adipocytes, stromal cells, and blood

vessels. *Diabetes* 56:1517–26 (2007) DOI: 10.2337/db06-1749

- 34. Divella R, De Luca R, Abbate I, Naglieri E, Daniele A. Obesity and cancer: the role of adipose tissue and adipocytokines-induced chronic inflammation. J Cancer. 7(15):2346-2359. Published 2016 Nov 26 (2016) DOI: 10.7150/jca.16884
- Franks AL, Slansky JE. Multiple associations between a broad spectrum of autoimmune diseases, chronic inflammatory diseases and cancer. Anticancer Res. 32(4):1119-36 (2012)
- Green PH, Fleischauer AT, Bhagat G, Goyal R, Jabri B, Neugut AI. Risk of malignancy in patients with celiac disease. Am J Med. 115:191–195 (2003) DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9343(03)00302-4
- Singhvi HR, Malik A, Chaturvedi P. The Role of Chronic Mucosal Trauma in Oral Cancer: A Review of Literature. *Indian J Med Paediatr Oncol*. 38(1):44-50 (2017) DOI: 10.4103/0971-5851.203510
- Grivennikov SI, Karin M. Inflammation and oncogenesis: a vicious connection. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 20(1):65-71 (2009) DOI: 10.1016/j.gde.2009.11.004
- 39. Van der Valk P, Herman CJ. Leukocyte functions. *Lab Invest*. 56:127–37 (1987)
- Hoesel B, Schmid JA (2013) The complexity of NF-κB signaling in inflammation and cancer. *Mol Cancer* 12:86 (2013)

DOI: 10.1186/1476-4598-12-86

 Mocellin, S., Rossi, C. R., Pilati, P., and Nitti, D (2005) Tumor necrosis factor, cancer and anticancer therapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 16,35–53 (2005) DOI: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2004.11.001

42. Raman D, Baugher PJ, Thu YM, Richmond A. Role of chemokines in tumor growth. *Cancer Lett.* 256(2):137-65 (2007)

DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2007.05.013

- Lin, W.W., and Karin, M. A cytokine-mediated link between innate immunity, inflammation, and cancer. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 1175–1183 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1172/JCI31537
- 44. Klein, B., Lu, Z.Y., Gaillard, J.P., Harousseau, J.L., and Bataille, R. Inhibiting IL-6 in human multiple myeloma. Curr. Top. *Micro-biol. Immunol.* 182, 237–244 (1992) DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-77633-5_29
- 45. Chung, Y.C., and Chang, Y.F. Serum interleukin-6 levels reflect the disease status of colorectal cancer. *J. Surg. Oncol.* 83, 222–226 (2003) DOI: 10.1002/jso.10269
- 46. Berger, F.G. The interleukin-6 gene: a susceptibility factor that may contribute to racial and ethnic disparities in breast cancer mortality. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 88, 281–285 (2004) DOI: 10.1007/s10549-004-0726-0
- 47. Gialeli C, Theocharis AD & Karamanos NK. Metalloproteinases in health and disease: roles of matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression and their pharmacological targeting. *FEBS J* 278, 16–27 (2010) DOI: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2010.07919.x
- 48. Nagase H, Visse R & Murphy G. Structure and function of matrix metalloproteinases and TIMPs.

Cardiovasc Res 69, 562–573 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2005.12.002

- Liotta LA, Tryggvason K, Garbisa S, Hart I, Foltz CM & Shafie S. Metastatic potential correlates with enzymatic degradation of basement membrane collagen. *Nature* 284, 67–68 (1980) DOI: 10.1038/284067a0
- Galdiero MR, Bonavita E, Barajon I, Garlanda C, Mantovani A, Jaillon S. Tumor associated macrophages and neutrophils in cancer. *Immunobiology*. 218(11):1402–1410 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.imbio.2013.06.003
- Qian BZ, Pollard JW. Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. *Cell.* 141(1):39–51 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.014
- 52. Barbera-Guillem E, Nyhus JK, Wolford CC, Friece CR, Sampsel JW. Vascular endothelial growth factor secretion by tumor-infiltrating macrophages essentially supports tumor angiogenesis, and IgG immune complexes potentiate the process. *Cancer Res.* 62(23):7042–7049 (2002)
- Ono M, Torisu H, Fukushi J, Nishie A, Kuwano M. Biological implications of macrophage infiltration in human tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* 43:S69–S71 (1999) DOI: 10.1007/s002800051101
- 54. Schoppmann, S. F., Birner, P., Stöckl, J., Kalt, R., Ullrich, R., Caucig, C., Kriehuber, E., Nagy, K., Alitalo, K., Kerjaschki, D. Tumor-associated macrophages express lymphatic endothelial growth factors and are related to peritumoral lymphangiogenesis. *The*

American journal of pathology, 161(3), 947-56 (2002)

DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64255-1

- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* 100:57–70 (2000)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9
- Ucuzian AA, Gassman AA, East AT, Greisler HP. Molecular mediators of angiogenesis. J Burn Care Res. 31(1):158-75 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1097/BCR.0b013e3181c7ed82
- Benest AV, Kruse K, Savant S, Thomas M, Laib AM, Loos EK, Fiedler U, Augustin GH. Angiopoietin-2 is critical for cytokine-induced vascular leakage. *PLoS One*;8: e70459 (2013)

DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070459

58. Ye YN, Liu ES, Shin VY, Wu WK, Cho CH. Contributory role of 5-lipoxygenase and its association with angiogenesis in the promotion of inflammation-associated colonic tumorigenesis by cigarette smoking. *Toxicology* 203:179–188 (2004)

DOI: 10.1016/j.tox.2004.06.004

- Butler KL, Clancy-Thompson E, Mullins DW. CXCR3+ monocytes/macrophages are required for establishment of pulmonary metastases. Sci Rep. 2017; 7:45593. Published 2017 Mar 30 (2017) DOI: 10.1038/srep45593
- Rankin JA. Biological mediators of acute inflammation. AACN Clin Issues. 15:3–17 (2004)
 DOI: 10.1097/00044067-200401000-

00002

61. Borish, L. and Steinke, J.W. Cytokines and chemokines. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*. 111: S460–S475 92003)

DOI: 10.1067/mai.2003.108

- 62. Glauben Landskron, Marjorie De la Fuente, Peti Thuwajit, Chanitra Thuwajit, and Marcela A. Hermoso, "Chronic Inflammation and Cytokines in the Tumor Microenvironment," Journal of Immunology Research, Article ID 149185, 19 pages (2014) DOI: 10.1155/2014/149185.
- Bienvenu JAD, Monneret G, Gutowski MC, Fabien N. Cytokine assays in human sera and tissues. *Toxicology*. 129:55–61 (1998)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0300-483X(98)00063-8
- 64. Michalaki V, Syrigos K, Charles P, Waxman J. Serum levels of IL-6 and TNF-alpha correlate with clinicopathological features and patient survival in patients with prostate cancer. British journal of cancer. 90:2312–6 (2004)

 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6601814

65. Street ME, Miraki-Moud F, Sanderson IR, Savage MO, Giovannelli G, Bernasconi S, et al. Interleukin-1beta (IL-1beta) and IL-6 modulate insulin-like growth factor-binding protein (IGFBP) secretion in colon cancer epithelial (Caco-2) cells. *J Endocrinol*. 179:405–15 (2003) DOI: 10.1677/joe.0.1790405

66. Pine SR, Mechanic LE, Enewold L, Chaturvedi AK, Katki HA, Zheng YL, et al. Increased levels of circulating interleukin 6, interleukin 8, C-reactive protein, and risk of lung cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*. 103:1112–(2011)

DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djr216

67. Zhou X, Fragala MS, McElhaney JE, Kuchel GA. Conceptual and

17

methodological issues relevant to cytokine and inflammatory marker measurements in clinical research. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* 13:541–7 (2010)

DOI: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e32833cf3bc

68. Wong HL, Pfeiffer RM, Fears TR, Vermeulen R, Ji S, Rabkin CS. Reproducibility and correlations of multiplex cytokine levels in asymptomatic persons. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 17:3450–6 (2008)

DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-08-0311

- 69. Zijlstra, A., Seandel, M., Kupriyanova, T. A., Partridge, J. J., Madsen, M. A., Hahn-Dantona, E. A., Quigley, J. P., & Deryugina, E. I. Proangiogenic role of neutrophil-like inflammatory heterophils during neovascularization induced by growth factors and human tumor cells. *Blood*, 107(1), 317-327 (2006) DOI: 10.1182/blood-2005-04-1458.
- Nishijima TF, Muss HB, Shachar SS, Tamura K, Takamatsu Y Prognostic value of lymphocyte-to-monocyte ratio in patients with solid tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Treat Rev 41(10) 971-8 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2015.10.003
- 71. Walsh SR, Cook EJ, Goulder F, Justin TA, Keeling NJ. Neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio as a prognostic factor in colorectal cancer. *J Surg Oncol*. 91:181–4 (2005) DOI: 10.1002/jso.20329
- 72. Smith RA, Bosonnet L, Raraty M, Sutton R, Neoptolemos JP, Campbell F, et al. Preoperative platelet-lymphocyte ratio is an independent significant prognostic marker in resected pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Am*

J Surg. 197:466-72 (2009)

- 73. Holmes EC. Immunology of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes. *Ann Surg.* 201:158–63 (1985)
 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-198502000-00004
- 74. Faria, S. S., Fernandes, P. C., Silva, M. J., Lima, V. C., Fontes, W., Freitas-Junior, R., Eterovic, A. K., Forget, P. The neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio: a narrative review. Ecancermedicalscience, 10, 702 (2016) DOI: 10.3332/ecancer.2016.702
- 75. Templeton AJ, Ace O, McNamara MG, Al-Mubarak M, Vera-Badillo FE, Hermanns T, Seruga B, Ocaña A, Tannock IF, Amir E. Prognostic role of platelet to lymphocyte ratio in solid tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 23(7) 1204–12 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0146
- 76. Salgado, R., Denkert, C., Demaria, S., Sirtaine, N., Klauschen, F., Pruneri, G., Wienert, S., Van den Eynden, G., Baehner, F. L., Penault-Llorca, F., Perez, E. A., Thompson, E. A., Symmans, W. F., Richardson, A. L., Brock, J., Criscitiello, C., Bailey, H., Ignatiadis, M., Floris, G., Sparano, J., Kos, Z., Nielsen, T., Rimm, D. L., Allison, K. H., Reis-Filho, J. S., Loibl, S., Sotiriou, C., Viale, G., Badve, S., Adams, S., Willard-Gallo, K., Loi, S., International TILs Working Group 2014 (2014) The evaluation of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in breast cancer: recommendations by an International TILs Working Group 2014. Annals of oncology: official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology, 26(2), 259-71 (2014)

DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdu450

- 77. E. Dempsey, P.M. Rudd. Acute phase glycoproteins: bystanders or participants in carcinogenesis? *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.*, 1253, pp. 122-132 (2012)

 DOI: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06420.x
- 78. Morley JJ, Kushner I. Serum C-reactive protein levels in disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 389:406–18 (1982)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1982.tb22153.x
- 79. Platz EA, Sutcliffe S, De Marzo AM, Drake CG, Rifai N, Hsing AW, et al. Intraindividual variation in serum C-reactive protein over 4 years: an implication for epidemiologic studies. *Cancer Causes Control*. 21:847–51 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1007/s10552-010-9511-z
- McMillan DC, Crozier JE, Canna K, Angerson WJ, McArdle CS. Evaluation of an inflammation-based prognostic score (GPS) in patients undergoing resection for colon and rectal cancer. *Int J Colorectal Dis.* 22(8):881–886 9 (2007) DOI: 10.1007/s00384-006-0259-6
- 81. Proctor MJ, Morrison DS, Talwar D, Balmer SM, O'Reilly DS, Foulis AK et al. An inflammation-based prognostic score (mGPS) predicts cancer survival independent of tumour site: a Glasgow Inflammation Outcome Study. Br J Cancer. 104(4):726–734 (2011) DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6606087
- 82. Circu ML, Aw TY. Reactive oxygen species, cellular redox systems, and apoptosis. Free Radic Biol Med. 48:749–62 (2010)
 DOI:
 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2009.12.022

species in health and disease. *J Biomed Biotechnol*. 2012: 936486 (2012)

Alfadda AA, Sallam RM. Reactive oxygen

83.

- 84. Cadet J, Douki T, Ravanat JL. Oxidatively generated base damage to cellular DNA. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 49:9–21 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.03.025
- 85. Kryston TB, Georgiev AB, Pissis P, Georgakilas AG. Role of oxidative stress and DNA damage in human carcinogenesis. *Mutat Res.* 711:193–201 (2011)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2010.12.016
- 86. Marnett LJ. Lipid peroxidation-DNA damage by malondialdehyde. *Mutat Res.* 424:83–95 (1999)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0027-5107(99)00010-X
- 87. El Ghissassi F, Barbin A, Nair J, Bartsch H. Formation of 1, N6-ethenoadenine and 3,N4- ethenocytosine by lipid peroxidation products and nucleic acid bases. *Chem Res Toxicol.* 8:278–83. (1995)

 DOI: 10.1021/tx00044a013
- 88. Nair U, Bartsch H, Nair J. Lipid peroxidation-induced DNA damage in cancer-prone inflammatory diseases: a review of published adduct types and levels in humans. Free Radic Biol Med. 43:1109–20 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2007.07.012
- 89. Azad N, Rojanasakul Y, Vallyathan V. Inflammation and lung cancer: roles of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species. *J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev.* 11:1–15 (2008) DOI: 10.1080/10937400701436460

- Cadet J, Poulsen H. Measurement of oxidatively generated base damage in cellular DNA and urine. Free Radic Biol Med. 48:1457–9 (2010)
 DOI:
 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.03.004
- Wang D, Dubois RN. Eicosanoids and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 10:181–93 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1038/nrc2809
- 92. Fosslien E: Biochemistry of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 inhibitors and molecular pathology of COX-2 in neoplasia. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci* 37(5):431–502, (2000)
 DOI: 10.1080/10408360091174286
- 93. Rao CV, Reddy BS. NSAIDs and chemoprevention. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets*. 4: 29 –42 (2004)
 DOI: 10.2174/1568009043481632
- 94. Tsikas D. Application of gas chromatography-mass spectrometry and gas chromatography tandem mass spectrometry to assess in vivo synthesis of prostaglandins. thromboxane, leukotrienes, isoprostanes and related compounds in humans. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl. 717:201–45 (1998) DOI: 10.1016/S0378-4347(98)00210-2
- 95. Tucker ON, Dannenberg AJ, Yang EK, Zhang F, Teng L, Daly JM, Soslow RA, Masferrer JL, Woerner BM, Koki AT, Fahey TJ 3rd. Cyclooxygenase-2 expression is up-regulated in human pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res 59: 987– 990 (1999)
- 96. S.I. Grivennikov, M. Karin. Dangerous liasons: STAT3 and NF-kappaB collaboration and crosstalk in cancer. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. Feb; 21(1):

- 11–19 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2009.11.005
- Yu H, Kortylewski M, Pardoll D. Crosstalk between cancer and immune cells: role of STAT3 in the tumour microenvironment. Nat Rev Immunol. 7:41–51 (2007) DOI: 10.1038/nri1995
- 98. Karin M. NF-κB and cancer: mechanisms and targets. *Mol Carcinog*. 45:355–361 (2006)
 DOI: 10.1002/mc.20217
- Vallabhapurapu, S, and Karin, M. Regulation and function of NF-kappa B transcription factors in the immune system. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 27, 693–733 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.1326
 41
- 100. Baldwin AS (2001) Control of oncogenesis and cancer therapy resistance by the transcription factor NFkB. J Clin Invest 107: 241 – 246 (2001) DOI: 10.1172/JCI11991
- 101. Rayet B, Gelinas C. Aberrant rel/nfkb genes and activity in human cancer.

 Oncogene 18: 6938 6947 (1999)

 DOI: 10.1038/si.onc.1203221
- 102. Weichert, W., Boehm, M., Gekeler, V., Bahra, M., Langrehr, J., Neuhaus, P., Denkert, C., Imre, G., Weller, C., Hofmann, H. P., Niesporek, S., Jacob, J., Dietel, M., Scheidereit, C., Kristiansen, G. High expression of RelA/p65 is associated with activation of nuclear factor-kappaB-dependent signaling in pancreatic cancer and marks a patient population with poor prognosis. *British journal of cancer*, 97(4), 523-30 (2007) DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603878

20 © 1996-2020

- 103. Prorok PC, Andriole GL, Bresalier RS, Buys SS, Chia D, Crawford ED, Fogel R, Gelmann EP, Gilbert F, Hasson MA, Hayes RB, Johnson CC, Mandel JS, Oberman A, O'Brien B, Oken MM, Rafla S, Reding D, Rutt W, Weissfeld JL, Yokochi L, Gohagan JK. Design of the Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovarian (PLCO) Cancer Screening Trial. Control Clin Trials. 21(6 Suppl):273S–309S (2000)
 - DOI: 10.1016/S0197-2456(00)00098-2
- 104. Shiels, M. S., Pfeiffer, R. M., Hildesheim, A., Engels, E. A., Kemp, T. J., Park, J. H., Katki, H. A., Koshiol, J., Shelton, G., Caporaso, N. E., Pinto, L. A., Chaturvedi, A. K. Circulating inflammation markers and prospective risk for lung cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 105(24), 1871-80 (2013) DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djt309
- 105. Ryan BM, Pine SR, Chaturvedi AK, Caporaso N, Harris CC. A combined prognostic serum interleukin-8 and interleukin-6 classifier for stage 1 lung cancer in the prostate, lung, colorectal, and ovarian cancer screening trial. *J Thorac Oncol.* 9:1494–503 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1097/JTO.000000000000000278
- Hoffman PC, Mauer AM, Vokes EE. Lung cancer. *Lancet*. 355:479–85 (2000)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)82038-3
- 107. Meaney CL, Zingone A, Brown D, Yu Y, Cao L, Ryan BM. Identification of serum inflammatory markers as classifiers of lung cancer mortality for stage I adenocarcinoma. Oncotarget. 8(25):40946-40957 (2017) DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.16784
- 108. The Women's Health Initiative Study Group. Design of the Women's Health

- Initiative clinical trial and observational study. *Control Clin Trials*. Feb; 19(1):61–109 (1998)
- DOI: 10.1016/S0197-2456(97)00078-0
- 109. Nelson, S. H., Brasky, T. M., Patterson, R. E., Laughlin, G. A., Kritz-Silverstein, D., Edwards, B. J., Lane, D., Rohan, T. E., Ho, G., Manson, J. E., LaCroix, A. Z (2017) The Association of the C-Reactive Protein Inflammatory Biomarker with Breast Cancer Incidence and Mortality in the Women's Health Initiative. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 26(7):1100-1106 (2017)
 - DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-16-1005
- 110. Guo, L., Liu, S., Zhang, S., Chen, Q., Zhang, M., Quan, P., Lu, J., Sun, X. Creactive protein and risk of breast cancer: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Scientific reports, 5, 10508 (2015)
 - DOI: 10.1038/srep10508
- 111. Dirican A, Kucukzeybek BB, Alacacioglu A, Kucukzeybek Y, Erten C, Varol U, Somali I, Demir L, Bayoglu IV, Yildiz Y, Akyol M, Koyuncu B, Coban E, Ulger E, Unay FC, Tarhan MO. Do the derived neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and the neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio predict prognosis in breast cancer? Int J Clin Oncol 18 18 (2014)
- 112. Chen, J., Deng, Q., Pan, Y., He, B., Ying, H., Sun, H., Liu, X., Wang, S. Prognostic value of neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio in breast cancer. FEBS open bio, 5, 502-7 (2015)
 - DOI: 10.1016/j.fob.2015.05.003
- Denkert C, Loibl S, Noske A, Roller M, Müller BM, Komor M, Budczies J, Darb-

Esfahani S, Kronenwett R, Hanusch C, Törne CV, Weichert W, Engels K, Solbach C, Schrader I, Dietel M, Minckwitz GM. Tumor-associated lymphocytes as an independent predictor of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer *J Clin Oncol* 28(1) 105–113 (2009)

DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.23.7370

114. Sfanos KS, Hempel HA, De Marzo AM. The role of inflammation in prostate cancer. *Adv exp med biol.* 816:153–81 (2014)

DOI: 10.1007/978-3-0348-0837-8_7

- 115. Chaudry AA, Wahle KW, McClinton S, Moffat LE. Arachidonic acid metabolism in benign and malignant prostatic tissue in vitro: effects of fatty acids and cyclooxygenase inhibitors. Int J Cancer. 57:176–180 (1994)
 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.2910570208
- 116. Mahmud SM, Franco EL, Aprikian AG. Use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and prostate cancer risk: a metaanalysis, *Int J Cancer*, vol. 127 (pg. 1680-1691) (2010)

DOI: 10.1002/ijc.25186

- 117. Toriola, A. T., Laukkanen, J. A., Kurl, S., Nyyssönen, K., Ronkainen, K., and Kauhanen, J. Prediagnostic circulating markers of inflammation and risk of prostate cancer. *Int. J. Cancer* 133, 2961–2967 (2013) DOI: 10.1002/ijc.28313
- 118. Shafique K, Proctor MJ, Mcmillan DC, Qureshi K, Leung H, Morrison DS. Systemic inflammation and survival of patients with prostate cancer: evidence from the Glasgow inflammation outcome study. Prostate cancer prostatic dis.15(2):195–201(2012)

DOI: 10.1038/pcan.2011.60

119. Thurner EM, Krenn-Pilko S, Langsenlehner U, Stojakovic T, Pichler M, Gerger A, Kapp KS, Langsenlehner T. The elevated C-reactive protein level is associated with poor prognosis in prostate cancer patients treated with radiotherapy. Eur J cancer. 51(5):610–9 (2015)

DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2015.01.002

120. Van Soest RJ, Templeton AJ, Vera-Badillo FE, Mercier F, Sonpavde G, Amir E, Tombal B, Rosenthal M, Eisenberger MA, Tannock IF, de Wit R. Neutrophilto-lymphocyte ratio as a prognostic biomarker for men with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer receiving first-line chemotherapy: data from two randomized phase III trials. *Ann oncol.* 26(4):743–9 (2015)

DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdu569

- 121. Liao SG, Cheng HH, Lei Y. C-reactive protein is a prognostic marker for patients with castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Oncol res treat*. 39(5):266–71 (2016) DOI: 10.1159/000446098
- 122. Leibowitz-Amit R, Templeton AJ, Omlin A, Pezaro C, Atenafu EG, Keizman D, Vera-Badillo F, Seah JA, Attard G, Knox JJ, Sridhar SS, Tannock IF, Del Bono JS, Joshua AM. Clinical variables associated with PSA response to abiraterone acetate in patients with metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer. *Ann oncol*. 25:657–62 (2014)

DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdt581

123. Sciarra, A., Gentilucci, A., Salciccia, S., Pierella, F., Del Bianco, F., Gentile, V., Silvestri, I., Cattarino, S. Prognostic value of inflammation in prostate cancer progression and response to therapeutic: a critical review. *Journal of inflammation* (London, England), 13, 35 (2016)
DOI: 10.1186/s12950-016-0143-2

Ghuman, S., Van Hemelrijck, M., Garmo, H., Holmberg, L., Malmström, H., Lambe, M., Hammar, N., Walldius, G., Jungner, I., Wulaningsih, W. Serum inflammatory markers and colorectal cancer risk and survival. *Br J Cancer*, *116*(10), 1358-1365 (2017)

DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2017.96

125. Nasr R, Salim Hammoud M, Nassar F, Mukherji D, Shamseddine A, Temraz S. Inflammatory Markers and MicroRNAs: The Backstage Actors Influencing Prognosis in Colorectal Cancer Patients. *Int J Mol Sci.* 19(7):1867. Published 2018 Jun 26 (2018)

DOI: 10.3390/ijms19071867

- 126. Sun, L.; Hu, S.; Yu, L.; Guo, C.; Sun, L.; Yang, Z.; Qi, J.; Ran, Y. Serum haptoglobin as a novel molecular biomarker predicting colorectal cancer hepatic metastasis. *Int. J. Cancer.* 138, 2724–2731 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.29993
- 127. Chang, P.H.; Pan, Y.P.; Fan, C.W.; Tseng, W.K.; Huang, J.S.; Wu, T.H.; Chou, W.C.; Wang, C.H.; Yeh, K.Y. Pretreatment serum interleukin-1beta, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factoralpha levels predict the progression of colorectal cancer. *Cancer Med.* 5, 426–433 (2016)

DOI: 10.1002/cam4.602

128. Kim, J.H.; Lee, J.Y.; Kim, H.K.; Lee, J.W.; Jung, S.G.; Jung, K.; Kim, S.E.; Moon, W.; Park, M.I.; Park, S.J. Prognostic significance of the neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio and platelet-tolymphocyte ratio in patients with stage III

- and IV colorectal cancer. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 23, 505–515 (2017) DOI: 10.3748/wig.v23.i3.505
- 129. Tan, D.; Fu, Y.; Su, Q.; Wang, H. Prognostic role of platelet-lymphocyte ratio in colorectal cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine*. 95, e3837 (2016)

DOI: 10.1097/MD.0000000000003837

- 130. Fox, P., Hudson, M., Brown, C., Lord, S., Gebski, V., De Souza, P., & Lee, C. K. Markers of systemic inflammation predict survival in patients with advanced renal cell cancer. *British journal of cancer*, 109(1), 147-53 (2013) DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2013.300
- 131. Nozoe T, Saeki H, Sugimachi K. Significance of preoperative elevation of serum C-reactive protein as an indicator of prognosis in esophageal carcinoma. Am J Surg 182(2):197–201 (2001) DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9610(01)00684-5
- 132. Lien YC, Hsieh CC, Wu YC, Hsu HS, Hsu WH, Wang LS, Huang MH, Huang BS. Preoperative serum albumin level is a prognostic indicator for adenocarcinoma of the gastric cardia. *J Gastrointest Surg* 8(8):1041–1048 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.gassur.2004.09.033
- 133. Voutsadakis IA. Thrombocytosis as a prognostic marker in gastrointestinal cancers. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 6(2):34-40 (2014)
 DOI: 10.4251/wjgo.v6.i2.34
- 134. Brown KM, Domin C, Aranha GV, Yong S, Shoup M. Increased preoperative platelet count is associated with decreased survival after resection for adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. Am J Surg 189: 278-282 (2005)

DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2004.11.014

135. Fayad L, Cabanillas F, Talpaz M, McLaughlin P, Kurzrock R. High serum interleukin-6 levels correlate with a shorter failure-free survival in indolent lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma. 30:563–71 (1998)

DOI: 10.3109/10428199809057568

Abbreviations: DNA: Deoxyribonucleic acid; RNA: Ribonucleic acid; HPV: Human Papilloma Virus; ROS: Reactive Oxygen species; HCV: Hepatitis C Virus; TNF-α; Tumor necrosis factor α; IL: Interleukin; NF-κβ; Nuclear factor kappalight-chain-enhancer of activated B cells; IFN: Interferon; CD: Cluster of differentiation; EGF: Epidermal growth factor; VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor; MMP-9: Matrix metallopeptidase 9; JAK: Janus kinase; STAT-Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3; TAM: Tumor associated macrophages; TGF-β; Transforming growth factor β; FGF: Fibroblast growth factor; PDGF: Platelet derived growth factor; ICAM-1: Intracellular adhesion molecule 1; VCAM-1: Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1; CSF: Colony stimulating factor; MAPK: Mitogen activated kinase; AP-1: Activator protein 1; CBC: Complete blood count; GPS: Glasgow prognostic score; m GPS: modified Glasgow score: NLR: Neutrophil prognostic lymphocyte ratio; PLR: Platelet to lymphocyte ratio; TIL: Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes; CRP: C-reactive protein; PDGF: Platelet derived growth factor; HGF: Hepatocyte growth factor; IGF: Insulin like growth factor: EMT: Epithelial to mesenchymal transition; RNS: Reactive nitrogen species; HNE: trans-4-hydroxy-2nonenal; MDA: malondialdehyde; HPLC: High performance liquid chromatography; COX: Cyclooxygenase; PG: Prostaglandin; ALOX: arachidonate 12-LMR: lipoxygenase; Lymphocyte to monocyte ratio; OS: Overall survival; DFS: Disease free survival; RFS:

Recurrence free survival; CSS: Cancer specific survival.

Key Words: Cancer, Inflammation, Biomarker, Risk Factor, Prognosis, Inflammatory Mediators, Review

Send correspondence to: Richa Chauhan, Department of Radiation Oncology, Mahavir Cancer Sansthan and Research Centre, Khagaul Road, Phulwarisharif, Patna 801505, Bihar, India. Tel: 8002226696, Fax: +91-612-2253957, E-mail: chauhan_richa@outlook.com